1978

Joan Harrison v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This matter involves a claim, filed pursuant to the Utah Occupational Disease Disability Law, §§35-2-1 of the Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, by the dependents of William G. Harrison, deceased; who alleged that the decedent died on November 6, 1975, as a result of the occupational diseases of Silicosis and Cancer contracted by him because of prolonged exposure to silicon dioxide dust and uranium radon in the course of his employment.

DISPOSITION AT COMMISSION HEARING

On July 8, 1977, Administrative Law Judge Keith E. Sohm, denied the claim of Joan Harrison, widow of William G.

G. Harrison did not die of complication incident to his employment or of an occupational disease.

On July 18, 1977, Appellant filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah a Motion for Review and Reversal of the Commission's decision denying benefits. That Motion was denied by the Commission in an Order dated August 9, 1977.

On September 2, a Petition for Writ of Review was filed on behalf of the plaintiffs, and a Writ of Review was issued on September 8, 1977.

Counsel stipulated for an extension of time to file the brief by November 28, 1977, and it was so ordered by Justice Hall on October 26, 1977.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Appellant respectfully requests a reversal of the decision of the Industrial Commission, and a finding in favor of the Appellant; or, in the alternative, a full review of plaintiff's claim at the Commission level with a different medical panel.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 29, 1975, William G. Harrison, self-employed, filed an occupational disease claim with the Industrial Commission of Utah. Harrison asserted that he had contracted the occupational diseases of Silicosis and Cancer as a result of prolonged exposure to harmful quantities

of silicon dioxide dust and Rodon daughters in the course of his employment as a uranium miner since 1945. His last employment was self-employment wherein he was covered by the State Insurance Fund.

Before Mr. Harrison could undergo scheduled testing at Holy Cross Hospital, he died on November 6, 1975, and a claim on behalf of his dependants was filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah on November 13, 1975. (R.17A).

Mr. Harrison has a history of uranium mining from 1945 to May 16, 1975. (R.19-20). He also smoked approximately one package of cigarettes per day since he was fourteen years old. (R.33).

On May 8, 1975, a medical panel composed of Drs. Elmer M. Kilpatrick, Charles D. Behrens and Laurence G. Christensen met and reviewed the autopsy report, performed at the request of the State Insurance Fund and Industrial Commission, medical records and X-rays of the deceased. The panel unanimously reported that Mr. Harrison did not die of an occupational disease, but rather from a disease identified as small-cell lung carcinoma with metastases, with complications from cancer chemotherapy; and a history of prolonged cigarette smoking with chronic bronchitis and emphysema. (R.86).

On June 7, 1976, Joan Harrison, the widow of the deceased filed an objection to the medical panel report and to the medical panel itself. (R.88). She objected to the

Chairman of the medical panel, Dr. Elmer Kilpatrick as being prejudiced and partial against cigarette smokers. She also objected to the medical panel report because the report failed to find that Silicosis contributed to the disability and death of Mr. Harrison, and that the report erred in including that the lung carcinoma was not an occupational disease obtained from continued exposure to radiation. (R.89).

On January 26, 1977, a hearing was held on the objections to the medical panel and its report. Exhibit C-1 was entered on behalf of the appellant, being a letter written by Dr. Kilpatrick to the Colorado State Compensation Insurance Fund. This letter was offered to establish Dr. Kilpatrick's espoused prejudice and bias against smoking uranium miners. Dr. Kilpatrick testified that in lung cancer cases, if there is a showing of smoking, he will rule against the appellant no matter what other facts exist, i.e., extent of exposure, type of cancer cells, or any other conceivable facts. (R.138-140). At the hearing testimony of Dr. Victor E. Archer was also heard. Dr. Archer was employed by the U.S. Public Health Service and is a leading research doctor in this field and has conducted long-term studies of cancer in uranium miners since 1955. Mr. Harrison was one such miner. Dr. Archer testified that Mr. Harrison's death was caused by small-cell undifferentiated cancer and that this most probably resulted from a prolonged exposure, over 5,500 working-level months, to radiation exposure. Dr.

Archer further testified that the smoking played some role in Mr. Harrison's death, but it was his opinion that the radon exposure, "...was the most important factor in the development of his lung cancer." (R.112 through 119).

Appellant's application was subsequently denied without benefits, as was her Motion for Review.

It is important to note, that subsequent to these proceedings, Dr. Elmer Kilpatrick was replaced on the medical panel that reviews respiratory cancer cases at the request of Counsel for the Utah Industrial Commission and as a result of the continuing objections and complaints of attorney W. Brent Wilcox. Counsel for the Fund has in several other cases stated that Dr. Kilpatrick was biased against smoking miners.

It is from the Commissions's denial of applicant's request for a second review by a new medical panel that this appeal is taken.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT'S STATUTORY RIGHTS HAVE BEEN DENIED IN THAT HER CLAIM WAS DEPRIVED OF PROPER REVIEW BY A MEDICAL PANEL CONSISTING OF NOT LESS THAN THREE IMPARTIAL EXAMINERS.

Appellant's application to the Industrial Commission involved an assertion of disability because of Silicosis and Cancer. In applications of this nature, Section 35-1-77 of the Utah Code Ann. (1951), as amended, requires that the Commission refer all such cases to a medical panel. This panel is to be composed of examiners who are qualified under

the provisions of Section 35-2-56 of the Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended.

Subsection (2) of §35-2-56, provides in pertinent part:

...Where a claim for compensation based upon partial permanent disability due to an occupational disease is filed with the Commission, the Commission shall appoint an impartial medical panel to consist of not less than three physicians specializing in the treatment of the disease or condition involved in the claim... (Emphasis added)

It is clear from the record, exhibits, and the subsequent replacement of Dr. Kilpatrick, that he was strongly biased against the claims of uranium miners who smoked. To him a smoking uranium miner could not recover benefits. His mind was made up in advance of receiving any of the facts regarding a particular claim. In the case of Barney A. Stalco vs. Atlas Minerals and the State Insurance Fund, File No 1A1286-00-7, Case No. 1-73-2215, Dr. Kilpatrick testified under oath that in all cases where the miner had a history of smoking, he would disregard all other facts or circumstance and recommend that the claim be denied. That attitude is grossly unfair to the appellant and does not fit the statutory definitions of an impartial medical examiner. The medical panel sits as the judge of the medical evidence, reviewing it and submitting their opinion to the Commission. They are required by statute to review that evidence impartially and without preconceived bias. While a judge may have a prior

notion can not be so strong as to preclude fair consideration of all the other facts and circumstances. Haslam vs. Morrison, 113 Utah 14, 190 P.2d 520 (1958); Rugenstein vs. Ottenheimer, 78 Or. 371, 152 P.215 (1915); and State ex rel. Barnard vs. Board of Education, 19 Wash. 8, 52 P.317 (1898). Appellant asserts that she has been deprived of her statutory right to a medical panel consisting of not less than three impartial examiners. In effect her medical claim has been examined by two impartial examiners and one very biased examiner, the Chairman no less. It has been clearly established that Dr. Kilpatrick in lung cancer cases made the decision for the panel.

Appellant recognizes and agrees that the report of the medical board is not conclusive and is evidence to be considered by the Commission in arriving at a decision. As a practical matter, in almost all cases, the Commission adopts their medical panel report and disregards independent opinions such as Dr. Archer in this case. However, Appellant is entitled under the statutes of this state to have that evidence formulated by an impartial panel of not less than three members. She has been deprived of that right.

The rule in Utah was stated by this Court in Jensen vs. United States Fuel Co., 18 Utah 2d 414, 424 P.2d 440 (1967):

We recognize the value and the usefulness of an impartial medical panel to make an independent medical examination and diagnosis of such cases. We are also in accord with the position of the plaintiff that it is

not the panel's prerogative to encroach upon the authority vested in the Commission to make the findings of fact in rendering the decision on the application. Its proper purpose is limited to medical examination and diagnosis, the evidence of which is to be considered by the Commission in arriving at its decision. 242 P.2d, at 422.

In Boardman vs. The Industrial Accident Commission: California, 140 C.A. 2d 273, 295 P.2d 465 (1956), the medical examiner held an improper conference with the witness for the claimant. The workman's compensation statute in California prohibits such conferences. The Court had this to say regarding the medical examiner's report:

The rule expressed in section [10823] is a salutary one, and one which should be enforced strictly. A report based, even in a small part, on its evaluation is so tainted so as to destroy its value. The Commission erred in not granting the motion to strike it from the records and in basing its decision, even in part, upon it, 295 P.2d, at 467.

The Court also stated that even if the medical examiner would have come to the same decision regardless of what the other expert had to say, it would not consider his report.

Applicant contends that the circumstances here are analogous to those of Jensen. Here the statutory requirement of three impartial medical examiners has been violated. The medical report was tainted by the admitted biases of Dr. Kilpatrick. That report was relied upon by the Commission in reaching its decision to deny the application of appellant. As in Jensen, the medical report was tainted and the Industrial Commission of Utah should not have based its decision in any

part upon that report and should have convened a new panel as requested, or should have based its decision upon Dr. Archer's testimony.

Therefore, Appellant respectfully requests that her application be examined by a new medical panel, and the Industrial Commission render its decision on that panel's medical report.

II. THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY CREDIBLE, COMPETENT, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND ARE FURTHER, CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND THEREFORE, THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSION IS ERRONEOUS AND SHOULD BE REVERSED.

It is well established that Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Industrial Commission of Utah are binding upon this Court, if there is credible, competent, and substantial evidence to support those findings and conclusions. See, Evans vs. Industrial Commission, 28 Utah 2d 324, 502 P.2d 118 (1972); Whitmore vs. Calavo Growers of Cal., 28 Utah 2d 165, 499 P.2d 849 (1972); and Utah Packers, Inc., vs. The Industrial Commission, 24 Utah 2d 230, 469 P.2d 500 (1970).

As appellant has asserted in her first argument, above, the medical report was so tainted by the bias of Dr. Kilpatrick that it does not constitute competent evidence upon which the Commission could base its Findings and Conclusion.

In addition to the medical report, the Commission

heard the testimony of Dr. Kilpatrick, regarding his bias and regarding his opinion on the causation of Mr. Harrison's death, and the testimony of Dr. Victor E. Archer. The testimony of Dr. Kilpatrick cannot form the basis of the Commission's Findings or Conclusions because of his bias, while the testimony of Dr. Archer is contrary to the findings of the Commission.

The Court should take cognizance of the credentials of Dr. Archer. This man is not a professional witness, but rather, a fine medical researcher in the field of Cancer in uranium miner. Since 1955 he has conducted long-range studies regarding the causative factors and in fact Mr. Harrison was a part of the study. In contract, Dr. Kilpatrick's knowledge of this area is based on secondary sources as he has indicated in Exhibit C-1 of the hearing held on January 26, 1977. Dr. Archer is an expert in the field of cancer in uranium miners, and particularly as to the man, Bill Harrison.

Dr. Archer concluded as is set forth in the Commission's Findings that he was of the opinion that it is highly probably that radon exposure was the most important factor in the development of Harrison's lung cancer.

Summarizing, the only evidence to support the findings and conclusions of the Commission are that which is

tainted by the espoused bias and partiality of Dr. Kilpatrick. The remaining evidence is contrary to the findings and conclusion of the Commission and it is for this reason that Appellant requests the reversal of the Commission's Order.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully submits that her right to a three member impartial medical panel, pursuant to Section 35-2-56, was violated here. It would be travesty of justice to allow Appellant Joan Harrison and her three dependents to go without compensation on the basis of a biased medical report.

Appellant further submits that the Commission's Finding and Conclusions are contrary to the evidence and, therefore, that its Order should be reversed.