1978

Joan Harrison v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter represents an appeal from an Industrial Commission ruling which denied benefits to the widow of a miner who had made a claim pursuant to the occupational disease and disability laws of Utah.

DISPOSITION BELOW

The Administrative Law Judge denied the claim of Joan Harrison, widow of William G. Harrison. A Motion to Review was filed with the Industrial Commission and the Commission affirmed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge. The matter was brought before the Supreme Court by Petition for Writ of Review filed by Mrs. Harrison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent requests the Supreme Court affirm the

STATEMENT OF FACTS

William G. Harrison had been a uranium miner since 1945. (R. 19-20). On August 29, 1975, he filed an occupational disease claim alleging disability as a result of silicosis and cancer caused by prolonged exposure to "rock dust and diesel smoke". (R. 1, 63). Before Mr. Harrison could undergo medical examination, he died November 6, 1975.

Mr. Harrison had been a smoker since the age of fourteen, at a rate of from one to one and one half packs per day. (R. 23, 33, 40). He was rated, medically, as a heavy smoker. (R. 41).

The final diagnosis, given in an autopsy report (R. 60-62) states:

1. CARCINOMIA, SMALL CELL CARCINOMA, RIGHT UPPER LOBE WITH LYMPHATIC PERMEATION, RIGHT LOBE AND RIGHT LOWER LOBE (WHO 2B)
2. PULMONARY FIBROSIS WITH EMPHYSEMA, MODERATE.
3. SILICOTIC FOCI, ALL LOBES OF THE LUNG.
4. PULMONARY EDEMA.
5. REGIONAL LYMPH NODE METASTASIS, EXTENSIVE.

Other medical records, throughout the Court's record, expand this analysis. (R. 70, 72, 76, 77).

A medical panel was convened to review the records of Mr. Harrison and a report was submitted which concluded as

follows:

Percentage

(1) Specific causes of death:

- a. Occupational Disease
(if any) None
Name of occupational disease--
Probably Silicosis Grade I, (?
early Grade II), of itself not
disabling.
- b. Other diseases 100%
Name of such diseases--Small
cell lung carcinoma right upper
lobe with regional metastases;
and complications from cancer
chemotherapy; and history of
prolonged cigarette smoking;
with chronic bronchitis and
emphysema.
- c. Other contributing factors .
Description of such factors--
It is recognized that the
decedent did have relatively
mild silicosis in degree of
itself, not disabling.

TOTAL 100%

The chairman of the panel was Dr. Elmer M. Kilpatrick.

Dr. Kilpatrick testified that all of the panel members met as a group and reviewed the records of Mr. Harrison, (R. 133). Further, the entire panel agreed with the result. (R. 132).

The panel's report was dated May 8, 1976. (R. 86).

On June 7, 1976, an objection to said report was filed by Mrs. Harrison alleging that Dr. Kilpatrick was "prejudice and biased and thereby unable to fairly evaluate claims involving lung cancer allegedly from uranium mining".

A hearing on the objection was held January 26, 1976 (R. 96). At that time Dr. Elmer M. Kilpatrick was called to testify in support of the panel's report. (R. 99). Dr. Victor E. Archer was called on behalf of Mrs. Harrison. (R. 112). A letter addressed to R. S. Ferguson of the State Compensation Insurance Fund in Denver, Colorado, was admitted on Motion of Mrs. Harrison (R. 138-140) which allegedly displayed the bias of Dr. Kilpatrick.

Despite the allegations of the objection to the report of the medical panel, no example of bias or prejudice, on the part of Dr. Kilpatrick, was offered other than the letter and testimony contained in the record.

ARGUMENT

At the outset it should be understood that this matter is, in reality, nothing more than a conflict between the views of the two doctors who testified at the hearing. In fact, the Objection to Medical Panel Report and to Medical Panel is nothing more than an objection to Dr. Kilpatrick. No objection is made to the other members of the panel, even though they agreed with the results contained in the report.

In this regard, Dr. Kilpatrick testified that the panel was aware of the work done by Dr. Archer and considered that medical information in reaching the conclusions contained

POINT I

THE ORDER OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION WAS BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD, THEREFORE, BE AFFIRMED.

The Supreme Court has often stated that where there is any substantial evidence on the record to support the findings of the Industrial Commission, a reviewing court cannot do otherwise but affirm the judgment of the Commission. Amalgamated Sugar Co. v. Industrial Commission, 56 U. 80, 189 P.69, (1920).

When there is conflict of material facts and competent evidence which might justify a finding either way, a finding by the Commission will not be disturbed, and, in such cases, the credibility of witnesses and weight of evidence are questions of fact to be left to the Commission. Board of Education of Salt Lake City v. Industrial Commission, 83 U. 256, 27 P.2d 805, (1933).

The main issue in the case at bar was clearly stated by the Administrative Law Judge when he said:

So it appears here that we have two diametrically opposed opinions from very fine medical doctors, authorities in their field. Cross-examination disclosed that Dr. Kilpatrick generally held that cigarette smoking was the most common cause of the lung cancer causing death in cases where the deceased or disabled individual was a long-time cigarette smoker and that Dr. Archer on the other hand generally ruled that the cause of death was from cancer due to uranium exposure. On cross-examination, Dr. Archer noted that there had been very few cases, if any, out of some twenty

heard in Utah where he had testified differently than that his opinion was that the cause of death was uranium exposure. Dr. Archer acknowledged that there was a heavier incident of smoking among miners [sic] among the general population and that he could only recall about one case out of twenty or thirty where a miner had died of carcinoma of the lung where there wasn't a history of smoking. The doctor further acknowledged that recent studies convinced him that the role of cigarette smoking is somewhat larger than he had originally thought. (R. 143)

In appellant's brief it is said, at page 4:

Dr. Kilpatrick testified that in lung cancer cases, if there is a showing of smoking, he will rule against the appellant no matter what other facts exist, i.e., extent of exposure, type of cancer cells, or any other conceivable facts. (R. 138-140).

No reading of the record can find such a dogmatic statement attributable to Dr. Kilpatrick. His testimony was rather different. At R. 101 we read the following:

(By Mr. Wilcox) Q It is your opinion is it not, Dr. Kilpatrick -- from what you have stated in other hearings before this, on this matter of lung cancer in uranium miners -- that if an Applicant claims to have lung cancer caused by uranium employment, and is also a smoker, that you would in all cases of that type find no connection between the uranium mining and his cancer?

(By Dr. Kilpatrick) A No, I wouldn't say that. I think that we'd have to still say that no one knows an exact single cause for cancer.

Q All right. But isn't it a fact that in your opinion, if an Applicant for lung-cancer benefits is a smoker, as far as you're concerned you're always going to find that the Applicant is not entitled to benefits?

A I can't say it that dogmatically. The thing is that you have to recognize many other potential carcinogens. And, when you would single out smoking, that is not true.

One need only read the letter which was admitted to evidence, on motion of Mrs. Harrison, to understand the position of Dr. Kilpatrick. In part it states:

. . . As far as Lung Cancer In Uranium Miners is concerned, I am aware that there is some increase in the incidence of this disorder in Uranium Miners, as compared to the general population. It may be that isotope exposure to uranium may be a co-carcinogen in the production of lung cancer, but the consideration of this feature is so mixed up with other concurrent etiologies, that a dogmatic statement cannot be made with exact relationships as to lung cancer being an exact result from radon exposure. It becomes apparent to me, and to the other members of the Medical Panel of Physicians, that in consideration of Uranium Induced lung Cancer, the issue becomes one of probability VS improbability in the causal relationships. All other potential factors pertaining to etiology must be considered in the total analysis of any given case.

. . . In an attempt to up-date understanding in the matter of causal relationships to Uranium Exposure in Uranium Miners I have studied the literature on the subject; discussed it with oncologists, pathologists, cancer chemotherapists, X-ray Therapy experts, immunologists, and Mine Safety Experts. The studies of Dr. Victor E. Archer, of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Western Area Occupational Laboratory, and his publications, influences the thinking of the experts who say "yes" to the questions related to -- "Is a dogmatic causal relationship between etiology of exposure to uranium in mines, in the production of lung cancer?".

It is not meant that the work of Dr. Archer be belittled. I am of the opinion that no other such study in the world can come up to the magnitude of the work done for adding to the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services

Electronic Text Archive administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

general knowledge related to production of lung cancer. On the other hand, in the end analysis of a given lung cancer, in a Uranium Miner, considering the multitude of variables concerning etiology, the end result remains that we do not know for certain the nature of the cause, and must say that "a co-carcinogen effect may exist from isotope exposure, but the present knowledge does not warrant a dogmatic statement that it does."

In the correspondence, pertaining to the three cases you referred to this office for review, (Bucher; Nicols; and Church), I find at the end of the letters of opinion from Dr. Archer, statements to the effect: -- "The above opinions with respect to the relationship of occupational and lung cancer in the case of (-----) are my own personal opinions, and are not those of the Surgeon General or of the Public Health Service. In no way do I represent either in stating my attitude and opinions on this matter". I was surprised to see this statement in print.

Furthermore there is no tag of identity in a given cancer from a Uranium miner. Cell types are the same, Uranium Miner, smoker, or in an idiopathic lung cancer. Also in considering therapy for a Uranium Miner, there is no different specific treatment for this cancer category.

Certainly, in any given lung cancer, in a Uranium Miner, potentials for the effects in production of the cancer from isotopes must be considered, but not to the exclusion of all other potentials. Probability is to be differentiated from improbability, and these words are the key to analysis. . . (R. 139-140)

Dr. Archer himself testified that no dogmatic statements can be made with regard to causation of cancer. (R. 118). If it is to be ruled that Dr. Kilpatrick's opinion is dogmatic, it must be done by inference. If inference is allowed to play such a role, then it must be remembered that Dr. Archer

testified that he could not remember any cases in Utah where he had testified that a cause of death was other than the result of uranium exposure. (R. 121). Certainly such testimony is inferential of a "dogmatic" view opposite to that attributed to Dr. Kilpatrick.

At this juncture it should be obvious that, in the words cited, supra, "we have two diametrically opposed opinions from very fine medical doctors".

In point of fact, this Court is not unaware of the dichotomy of opinion prevalent in this case. Some of the same medical experts appeared in Garner v. Hecla Mining Co., 19 U. 2d 367, 431 P.2d 794, (1967). There, plaintiffs urged that exposure to radon gas accounted for the higher average incidence of lung cancer in uranium miners. The Industrial Commission disagreed and denied recovery to the widow and children (Plaintiffs). Plaintiffs garnered their evidence from, among other sources, Dr. Victor E. Archer.

The Supreme Court, in upholding the Industrial Commission, said, at 371:

The fallacy which underlies plaintiffs' attack on the Commission's findings is that they improperly attempt to focus consideration of the issues exclusively upon their own view of the evidence and theories of the case. While some aspects of the statistical data and medical theories harmonize with their contentions, others

fail to do so. For instance, Dr. Saccomanno, the pathologist called by them, acknowledged the well known but unfortunate uncertainty as to the cause of cancer. He readily admitted that, in any given individual, "there are a great many unknown factors as to what might cause cancer" and that "... it could be concluded that the radon gas alone didn't cause the problem incident to the death, but it's merely based on a statistical study of a given number of cases."

Consistent with the foregoing and corroborating the existence of unknown factors and uncertainty as to causation, is the report of the medical panel to which this case was referred for reexamination: "We cannot confirm that the lung carcinoma was caused by exposure to uranium mining occupation." There is thus a reasonable basis in the evidence for the refusal of the Commission to find in accordance with the plaintiffs' contention. Upon the principles states above it is our duty to affirm the decision. [footnotes omitted]

It is respectfully submitted, that the Industrial Commission had before it substantial evidence sufficient to sustain the conclusion of the Administrative Law Judge when he said:

The Administrative Law Judge after considering all of the evidence, testimony of the parties and the file herein and further noting that three doctors made the investigation that led to the decision of the medical panel, finds that the deceased, Bill G. Harrison, did not die as the result of an occupational disease.

POINT II

THE OPINION OF MEDICAL EXPERTS DOES NOT AMOUNT TO BIAS OR PREJUDICE IN THE LEGAL SENSE.

Appellant's brief takes the position that the medical panel sits as judge of medical evidence. (page 6). The inference is made that the decision of the panel is final with regard to medical evidence. The conclusion which appellant wishes to reach is that the "judge" in the instant case was "biased."

For reasons which will be discussed, *infra*, the assumptions made by appellant are very far from accurate. However, accepting the position of appellant, *arguendo*, does not help her.

With regard to disqualification of a judge for bias or prejudice, such bias or prejudice must be for or against a party. 46 Am. Jur. 2d 198, §167, Judges, states, "The words 'bias' and 'prejudice' refer to the mental attitude or disposition of the judge toward a party to the litigation, and not to any views that he may entertain regarding the subject matter involved". §168, 46 Am. Jur. 2d 200, adds, "Bias or prejudice does not refer to any views a judge may entertain toward the subject matter involved in the case" . . . "The fact that a judge has strong feelings about the type of litigation involved does not make him biased or prejudice".

It can be seen from the foregoing that "bias" and "prejudice" are terms of art with a specific legal connotation which is more narrow than those terms convey in a popular sense.

When this knowledge is applied to the "medical judge" in the present case, we see that Dr. Kilpatrick may hold a particular view with regard to the subject matter of this case. His view would be that smoking was more probably the cause of cancer than was exposure to radon daughters. The subject matter would be the causation of lung cancer in uranium miners. Such a view cannot reasonably be construed to be a bias which would go toward a party. No suggestion has been made that Dr. Kilpatrick had any feeling toward any of the claimants personally. In other words, no bias or prejudice has been shown which would be sufficient to disqualify Dr. Kilpatrick if he were actually sitting as a judge.

POINT III

OBJECTION TO COMPOSITION OF THE MEDICAL PANEL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED.

Continuing, arguendo, the acceptance of plaintiffs position as stated above, it is obvious that Dr. Kilpatrick's presence on the panel was apparent to appellants on October 10, 1975, (R. 6) when a letter was sent to Mr. Harrison, before his demise, indicating that the panel had been appointed by the Industrial Commission and he was to appear before it. This is not a panel whose membership changes each time it considers a case. Dr. Kilpatrick's membership thereon was a well known fact. The panel report was dated May 8, 1976. (R. 86). From October 10, 1975, to May 8, 1976, no objection to Dr. Kilpatrick's presence was forthcoming.

Continuing the analogy of disqualification of a judge, it is generally held that an application for disqualification must be filed at the earliest opportunity. This rule is most strictly applied against a party who, having knowledge of facts which might constitute grounds for disqualification, does not seek a disqualification until after an unfavorable ruling has been made. Re Union Leader Corp., 292 F.2d 381, (1961); Cominetti v. Pacific Mut. Life Ins. Co., 139 P. 2d 930, (1943); State ex rel. Lefebvre v. Clifford, 118 P. 41, (1911).

Ignoring the lack of bias in the legal sense, discussed above, it is obvious that appellant should have made the objection to Dr. Kilpatrick long before the medical panel report was submitted. Appellant admits in her brief that Dr. Kilpatrick's views were known to her. The letter which is used to establish the allegation was dated August 22, 1975. (R. 138). The case of Barney A. Statcup v. Atlas Minerals, et al, File No. 1A1286-00-7, Case No. 1-73-2215, cited by appellant was heard by the Industrial Commission in May of 1975.

Can, therefore, appellant contend that she did not know the position of Dr. Kilpatrick until after the unfavorable medical report? Obviously, such a position is untenable and the objection should have been filed at an earlier time.

POINT IV

THE MEDICAL PANEL DOES NOT, IN FACT, SIT AS JUDGE OF MEDICAL ISSUES. THE PANEL REPORT IS, PURSUANT TO §35-1-77, UCA,

1953, ONLY CONSIDERED AS EVIDENCE IN THE CASE TO THE EXTENT IT IS SUPPORTED BY TESTIMONY.

Pursuant to §35-1-77, UCA, 1953, it has been held, in denying workmen's compensation benefits to a claimant, that the Industrial Commission did not err in considering the report of a medical panel along with other evidence. Such reports do not encroach upon the authority of the Commission to make findings of fact and conclusions. Jensen v. U.S. Fuel Co., 18 U. 2d 414, 424 P.2d 440, (1969).

Relating back to Point I, supra, the panel report, the testimony of Dr. Kilpatrick, supported by other members of the panel, and that of Dr. Archer were all before the Commission to be weighed in arriving at their decision. Each item was considered. The panel did not act as judge with regard to ultimate medical issues. The Industrial Commission so acts and appellant concedes this in her brief, at page 7:

Appellant recognizes and agrees that the report of the medical board is not conclusive and is evidence to be considered by the Commission in arriving at a decision.

The Garner case, supra, addresses this same issue when it says, at 19 U. 2d 370:

Under our statutes and long established decisional law there are insuperable obstacles to the granting of the relief sought by plaintiffs on this appeal: it was their burden to show affirmatively and to so persuade the Commission that Mr. Garner's death resulted from a disease caused by his occupation. It is the

prerogative of the Commission, and not of any medical panel, to judge the credibility of the evidence, and upon the basis of the whole evidence to determine the facts. The plaintiffs having failed to so persuade the Commission, it is the duty of this court to survey the evidence in the light most favorable to the findings and order; and we cannot reverse and compel an award unless there is credible evidence without substantial contradiction which points so clearly and persuasively in plaintiffs' favor that failure to so find must be regarded as capricious and arbitrary. Conversely, if there is any reasonable basis in the evidence, or from the lack of evidence, which will justify the refusal to so find, we must affirm. [footnotes omitted, emphasis added]

Given all of the foregoing, it is obvious that the statements in appellant's brief, with regard to an analogy between the panel and judges, is completely without foundation. The quotation cited above also sustains the position of respondent taken in Point I of this brief.

CONCLUSION

In Summary, it is obvious that the Industrial Commission had before it all of the available medical reports, opinions and evidence. Based on the record a choice was made by the Administrative Law Judge and was sustained by the Commission. It is important to note that neither of the two principle experts were as dogmatic in their view as alleged by appellant. Both conceded the relevancy of many factors with regard to causation of cancer, including exposure to radon daughters and smoking.

It is asserted that no bias existed in a legal sense. It is, further, asserted that no bias tainted the

decision, whether it existed in a legal sense or in any other sense.

form. Appellant admits this fact implicitly when she states in her brief, at page 7, ". . . In effect her medical claim has been examined by two impartial examiners and one very biased examiner . . ." It cannot logically be asserted that bias, even if it did exist, tainted the decision herein. Any bias, legal or other, is cleared when one admits that disinterested, impartial examiners agreed with the result.